THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jessica Ann Salvini, Circuit Court Judge

Common Pleas No. 2022-CP-40-05610

Daisy Crump, Appellant,

v.

Glenfield Capital, LLC d/b/a Glen 1441, LLC; Colliers International South Carolina Inc.; tk Elevator Corporation; and Sizemore, Inc., Respondents.

Appellate Case No. 2024-001569

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RUFFIN LAW FIRM
Adam Sinclair Ruffin
SC Bar No. 101350
1320 Main Street, Suite 300
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 470-5629
adam@ruffinappeals.com

THE CUTTINO LAW FIRM
Shaquana Cuttino
SC Bar No. 104370
1511 Greg Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 542-7455
scheduling@cuttinolaw.law

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the circuit court erred in granting the Defendants' joint motion for summary judgment based on its erroneous conclusion that Mrs. Crump had no physical injury where she was diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of being trapped in the elevator which caused her to suffer from frequent, severe, and debilitating panic attacks which manifested in a variety of physical symptoms and therefore met the threshold for establishing the damages element of her claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting the Defendants' motion for summary judgment.

On October 26, 2022, Daisy Crump filed a summons and complaint pleading causes of action for negligent infliction of emotional distress against Glenfield Capital, LLC, Colliers International South Carolina Inc., tk Elevator Corporation, and Sizemore, Inc.¹

The Defendants answered the complaint and filed a joint motion for summary judgment. The circuit court heard arguments on the motion on July 24, 2024. At that hearing, Shaquana Cuttino, Nicholas Spetsas, and Charles Buist appeared on behalf of Mrs. Crump. Mark Barrow and Grace Brown appeared for Glenfield, W. Bryant Neal and Joshua Shaw appeared for Colliers, and Everett Kendall and J.D. Elliott appeared for tk. R. 158.

The court granted the Defendants' motion for summary judgment and denied Mrs. Crump's motion to reconsider.

¹ Sizemore was never served with the complaint and therefore references to "Defendants" in this brief do not include Sizemore.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Appellate courts apply the same standard of review applied by the trial court to review the grant of summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.” *Williams v. Jeffcoat*, 444 S.C. 224, 233, 906 S.E.2d 588, 593 (2024) (citing *Knight v. Austin*, 396 S.C. 518, 521, 722 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2012)). “Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law.” *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011).

“When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493-94, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002) (citing *Summer v. Carpenter*, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997)). “On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.” *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653, 661 S.E.2d 791, 796 (2008) (citing *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 151, 607 S.E.2d 63, 65 (2004)).

Summary judgment is not proper “where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Middleborough Horizontal Prop. Regime Council of Co.-Owners v. Montedison S.p.A.*, 320 S.C. 470, 479, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing *Baugus v. Wessinger*, 303 S.C. 412, 401 S.E.2d 169 (1991)). “Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” *Nelson v. Charleston Cty. Parks & Rec. Comm'n*, 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 2004).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 4, 2019, Mrs. Crump was working as a Licensed Nurse Practitioner for Absolute Total Care on the 11th floor of the building located at 1441 Main Street in Columbia, South Carolina. R. 81, l. 13 – 82, l. 25. Crump left the building at approximately 5:00 pm when she got off work but realized she left her phone inside. She returned to the building and entered one of the elevators. She pressed the button for the 11th floor, but the doors failed to completely close. The doors stuck when they were about eight inches apart and Mrs. Crump was trapped inside. Crump Depo. R. 83, ll. 3 – 17.

To get out, Mrs. Crump pressed the door-open button which did not work. R. 84, ll. 2 – 11. Mrs. Crump could hear the elevator motor running and believed that the cables holding the elevator could break at any second. Mrs. Crump was terrified because she thought the elevator might crash to the basement and kill her. R. 84, ll. 12 – 21.

The Defendants did not call the fire department, law enforcement, or EMS to assist Mrs. Crump. Instead, they called an engineer. R. 85, ll. 3 – 6. One of Mrs. Crump's coworkers retrieved her phone and handed it to her through the narrow opening of the elevator door. R. 115, l. 22 – 116, l. 5. Mrs. Crump contacted her husband and children to tell them that she was trapped. R. 116, ll. 6 – 23. Mrs. Crump received a phone call from a 911 dispatcher after her daughter contacted them. R. 117, ll. 9 – 16. The elevator motor was running and was so loud that Mrs. Crump could not hear the 911 dispatcher on the phone. Mrs. Crump still has nightmares where she can hear the noise of the motor running and is reminded of her sense of impending death. R. 117, ll. 16 – 21.

While still trapped in the elevator, Mrs. Crump felt someone jump on the top of the elevator and start shaking it. Mrs. Crump did not know it was the engineer because no one told her he was

going to be getting on top of the elevator. When the elevator began shaking, Mrs. Crump recalled thinking to herself: “Oh my God. I’m dead now, I know.” R. 118, ll. 5 – 14.

Finally, the doors to the elevator came open and Mrs. Crump was freed. R. 118, ll. 15 – 25. Mrs. Crump recalled the fire department being there and taking her blood pressure. She was told that her blood pressure was 200 over 100 and that she needed to be taken to the hospital immediately. However, because Mrs. Crump was so traumatized from being trapped inside the small elevator, she told them she could not bring herself to get inside of a small ambulance. R. 119, ll. 4 – 19.

The firefighter agreed to wait fifteen minutes before checking Mrs. Crump’s blood pressure a second time. He said that if her blood pressure had not decreased, he would insist that she go to the hospital. On the second check of Mrs. Crump’s blood pressure, it had decreased but was still elevated and she did not have to go to the hospital. R. 87, ll. 3 – 12. At the time Mrs. Crump was trapped in the elevator she was sixty-nine years old, married, and had children. She was trapped in the elevator for more than one hour.

That night, Mrs. Crump did not sleep at all, and her husband insisted that she go to a doctor to get checked out the following day. R. 64, ll. 12 – 22. Mrs. Crump saw Dr. Hester who prescribed her Xanax. R. 64, l. 23 – 65, l. 4. When asked whether the Xanax helped her, Mrs. Crump replied that it helped her fall asleep initially but “then that motor noise kept—in my head, woke me up. So I did—I didn't relax. I couldn't relax. I was up most of the night. Even the night after I was up with the Xanax.” R. 65, ll. 15 – 21.

Dr. Hester testified at her deposition that Mrs. Crump had been a patient of hers since 2014. R. 133, ll. 5 – 7. Dr. Hester saw Mrs. Crump in her office on November 5, 2019. At that time, Mrs. Crump’s chief complaint was insomnia and anxiety from having been trapped in the elevator the

day before. R. 133, ll. 8 – 22. Dr. Hester recalled that although Mrs. Crump did not have any bruises or “obvious physical harm,” Mrs. Crump was “obviously . . . emotionally shaken and appeared anxious and had pressured speech.” R. 135, ll. 11 – 25. When asked by defense counsel whether Mrs. Crump had a “physical injury,” Dr. Hester said there was no physical injury but indicated that Mrs. Crump exhibited signs of anxiety and was also suffering from insomnia. R. 136, ll. 1 – 6. Mrs. Crump returned to Dr. Hester’s office just a week later with worsening symptoms of anxiety and insomnia. At that time Dr. Hester talked with Mrs. Crump about referring her to a counselor. Mrs. Crump again came to Dr. Hester with worsening symptoms on December 11, 2019. R. 136, l. 17 – 137, l. 7.

Mrs. Crump began seeing a Licensed Professional Counselor Supervisor named Shenna Ganzy who diagnosed Mrs. Crump with post-traumatic stress disorder and panic attacks as a result of being trapped in the elevator. R. 149. Ganzy explained that panic attacks are “sudden intense episodes of fear or discomfort reaching peak intensity within minutes.” R. 150. Ganzy explained that the symptoms of panic attacks include “palpitations, sweating, trembling, shortness of breath, chest pain, dizziness, chills or hot flashes, numbness or tingling, feelings of unreality or detachment, and fear of losing control or dying.” *Id.*

Ganzy explained that the trauma experienced by Mrs. Crump from being trapped in the elevator has caused her to experience “frequent and debilitating panic attacks.” *Id.* Mrs. Crump’s panic attacks are characterized by “shortness of breath, chest pain, dizziness, and an overwhelming feeling of dying or losing control.” *Id.* Mrs. Crump’s panic attacks are “frequent and severe,” and have “significantly affect[ed] Mrs. Crump’s daily functioning and quality of life.” *Id.* During Mrs. Crump’s first visit to Ganzy’s office, Ganzy personally observed Mrs. Crump “hyperventilating, sweating profusely, and . . . visibl[y] trembling” at the sight of the elevator in Ganzy’s office. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in granting the Defendants' joint motion for summary judgment based on its erroneous conclusion that Mrs. Crump had no physical injury because she was diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of being trapped in the elevator which caused her to suffer from frequent, severe, and debilitating panic attacks which manifested in a variety of physical symptoms and therefore met the threshold for establishing the damages element of her claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress.

Relevant Facts

The Defendants filed a joint motion for summary judgment on November 22, 2023. R. 45. The Defendants each filed separate memoranda in support of their motion and attached excerpts from Mrs. Crump and Dr. Hester's depositions for the court's consideration. Each of the Defendants argued that they were entitled to summary judgment based on Mrs. Crump's and Dr. Hester's deposition testimony that Mrs. Crump did not have a physical injury.² R. 48; R. 72; R. 100.

Mrs. Crump filed an opposition to the Defendants' motion for summary judgment on July 23, 2024, and attached an affidavit from Shenna Ganzy, Mrs. Crump's Counselor. Counsel argued that Mrs. Crump did sustain a physical injury because she had physical manifestations of the emotional distress caused by being trapped in the elevator. R. 141-151.

The circuit court heard arguments on the motion on July 24, 2024. Counsel for tk argued that both Mrs. Crump and Dr. Hester testified at their depositions that Mrs. Crump did not suffer a physical injury from being trapped in the elevator. R. 162, ll. 7 – 16. Counsel for tk argued that

² Glenfield also argued that it didn't owe a duty of care to Mrs. Crump because it had delegated control of the building to Colliers. R. 51-52. In its initial Form 4 Order, the circuit court rejected that argument. In the final order, however, the circuit court made no ruling on this argument.

a physical injury is required in a negligence action in South Carolina and that a plaintiff cannot maintain a negligent infliction of emotional distress claim absent some physical manifestation of the emotional distress. R. 162, ll. 17 – 22.

Counsel for tk relied almost entirely on this Court’s unpublished opinion in *K.S. v. Richland Sch. Dist. Two*, Op. No. 2022-UP-312 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 27, 2022) (“*Seeger*”).³ Counsel argued that a negligent infliction of emotional distress claim can only be maintained in three contexts: (1) when the plaintiff witnesses physical harm to a family member, (2) when the plaintiff suffers emotional distress as a result of a physical injury, and (3) when a plaintiff experiences physical manifestations of emotional distress. R. 164, ll. 8 – 17.

Counsel for tk acknowledged that Ganzy’s affidavit placed Mrs. Crump squarely in the third category outlined in *Seeger* because Ganzy stated that Mrs. Crump has physical manifestations of emotional distress. R. 164, ll. 18 – 25. Counsel maintained however that *Seeger* established a “bright line rule,” establishing that when a plaintiff relies on physical manifestations of emotional distress to support her damages that the defendant’s conduct must be “extreme.” Counsel argued that summary judgment should be granted in this case because Defendants’ conduct was not “extreme” enough. R. 165, l. 1 – 166, l. 22.

Counsel for Mrs. Crump responded by arguing that Mrs. Crump did suffer a physical injury as a result of being trapped in the elevator including chest pain, foot pain, and nightmares. R. 168, l. 22 – 169, l. 7. Counsel cited to both *Mack v. S. Bound R.R. Co.*, 52 S.C. 323, 29 S.E. 905 (1898) and *Spaugh v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.*, 158 S.C. 25, 155 S.E. 145 (1930) in support of her

³ The Supreme Court granted *Seeger*’s petition for a writ of certiorari on May 24, 2023, and oral argument was held on April 16, 2024. The Supreme Court reversed this Court’s decision on January 23, 2025. *K.S. v. Richland Sch. Dist. Two*, Op. No. 28254 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Jan. 23, 2025) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 4 at 21).

position that the damages element of a negligent infliction of emotional distress claim is satisfied as long as there is some physical manifestation of the emotional distress. R. 169, l. 8 – 171, l. 8.

Counsel for Mrs. Crump pointed out that Mrs. Crump has many physical manifestations from the trauma she experienced. Specifically, Mrs. Crump has been diagnosed with PTSD and has panic attacks which cause her to experience sweating and shortness of breath. R. 170, ll. 5 – 13. Counsel argued that summary judgment was improper because there was a genuine dispute as to the material fact of whether Mrs. Crump had a physical injury. R. 171, l. 19 – 172, l. 1.

Counsel for tk responded that the cases relied on by Mrs. Crump were old and that this Court's unpublished decision in *Seeger* was "more controlling." R. 172, ll. 6 – 21. Counsel for Mrs. Crump pointed out that these cases have never been overruled. Furthermore, the Defendants' conduct in this case was extreme because the engineer got on top of the elevator causing it to shake without informing Mrs. Crump that was going to happen. R. 173, l. 15 – 174, l. 7. Glenfield and Colliers both fully joined tk's arguments. R. 173, ll. 4 – 10; R. 177, ll. 15 – 18.

The circuit court initially entered a Form 4 Order granting the Defendants' joint motion for summary judgment. The court relied heavily on this Court's unpublished decision in *Seeger* and found that a physical injury is required in a negligence cause of action. The circuit court found that Mrs. Crump was not physically injured and there was no genuine issue of material fact.

In its final order, the circuit court found that "[Mrs. Crump] and [Mrs. Crump's] treating physician have testified that [Mrs. Crump] did not suffer a physical injury at all." R. 7. The court found that Mrs. Crump's "hyperventilating, sweating, and trembling do not constitute a physical injury as defined in *Seeger* and the prevailing authorities referenced therein." *Id.* The court thus concluded that Mrs. Crump was not physically injured and could not meet the damages element of her negligence claim and therefore granted the Defendants' motion for summary judgment.

Mrs. Crump filed a motion to reconsider on August 16, 2024.⁴ Counsel correctly pointed out that *Seeger* has no precedential value. R. 152-153. Counsel further argued that the court failed to consider Ganzy’s affidavit which established that Mrs. Crump had physical manifestations of her emotional trauma which constitute physical injuries for purposes of establishing the damages element in a negligence cause of action as supported by several binding opinions from our Supreme Court. R. 154-155.. The circuit court denied Mrs. Crump’s motion to reconsider. R. 1.

Discussion

The circuit court erred in granting the Defendants’ motion for summary judgment because Mrs. Crump had many physical manifestations of her emotional distress which our Supreme Court has repeatedly held is sufficient to send a negligence claim to a jury.

It is elementary that a negligence action requires the plaintiff to show “a duty on the part of the defendant, a breach of that duty by an act of omission or commission, and that such breach of duty was the proximate cause of plaintiff’s injuries.” *Sherrill v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 260 S.C. 494, 499, 197 S.E.2d 283, 285 (1973). South Carolina explicitly adopted a cause of action for negligent infliction of emotional distress in *Kinard v. Augusta Sash & Door Co.*, 286 S.C. 579, 582, 336 S.E.2d 465, 467 (1985). And while *Kinard* was limited to “bystander recovery” claims where the plaintiff had witnessed harm to a family member, the Court noted that it “express[ed] no opinion as to whether the action is viable in other factual settings.” *Id.* at n.2.

Generally, “the damages element [in a negligence case] requires a plaintiff to establish physical injury or property damage.” *Babb v. Lee Cty. Landfill SC, LLC*, 405 S.C. 129, 153, 747

⁴ Counsel first filed the motion to reconsider on August 2, 2024, which was after the circuit court’s initial Form 4 Order granting the Defendants’ motion for summary judgment but before the full order had been filed. Counsel then refiled the motion to reconsider after the court issued its final summary judgment order on August 9, 2024.

S.E.2d 468, 481 (2013). Damages for emotional distress are recoverable when there is “some physical manifestation of the emotional distress.” *Id.* (citing *Dooley v. Richland Mem'l Hosp.*, 283 S.C. 372, 322 S.E.2d 669 (1984)).

For more than a century our Supreme Court has repeatedly affirmed the principle that physical manifestations of emotional distress satisfy the damages element in a negligence cause of action. As far back as 1898, our Supreme Court recognized this. In *Mack v. S. Bound R.R. Co.*, 52 S.C. 323, 29 S.E. 905 (1898) a boy was almost hit by a train while riding his mule. A lawsuit was filed alleging that the boy was frightened and shocked which caused him to suffer “great mental anguish and physical pain, arising from the terrible shock to his nervous system and the fright which he received; and by reason thereof he was incapacitated from performing or attending to his ordinary duties.” *Id.* at 326, 29 S.E. at 906.

The question before the Court in *Mack* was whether the railroad company was “liable for injuries sustained in consequence of fright caused by its negligence.” *Id.* at 332, 29 S.E.2d at 908. The Court answered in the affirmative, holding that the railroad could be liable for injuries caused by the fright. The *Mack* Court pointed out that “fright, terror, alarm or anxiety . . . do, in fact, deprive one of enjoyment and of comfort, cause real suffering, and, to a greater or less extent, disqualify one for the time being from doing the duties of life.” *Id.* at 333, 29 S.E.2d at 909.

The Court in *Mack* went on to explain that “[i]f these results flow from a wrongful or negligent act, a recovery therefor[e] cannot be denied on the ground that the injury is fanciful and not real.” *Id.* Our Supreme Court explained:

Danger excites alarm. Few people are wholly insensible to the emotion caused by imminent danger, though some are less affected than others. It must also be admitted that a timid or sensitive person may suffer, not only in mind, but also in body, from such a cause. *Great emotion may, and sometimes does, produce physical effects. The action of the heart, the circulation of the blood, the temperature*

of the body, as well as the nerves and appetite, may all be affected.
A physical injury may be directly traceable to fright, and so may be caused by it.

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