RECEIVED

Jun 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jessica Ann Salvini, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-CP-40-05610

Appellate Case No. 2024-001569

Daisy Crump, Appellant,

v.

Glenfield Capital, LLC D/B/A Glen 1441, LLC, Colliers International South Carolina, Inc., and tk Elevator Corporation. Respondents.

FINAL JOINT BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Joshua D. Shaw (SC Bar No. 77835)
Paul E. Allen, Jr. (SC Bar No.: 104062)

Attorneys for Colliers International South Carolina, Inc.

Mark S. Barrow (SC Bar No. 7821)
Grace G. Brown (SC Bar No. 105154)

Attorneys for Glenfield Capital, LLC

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

ARGUMENT

The undisputed evidence establishes that Plaintiff did not sustain physical injury when she was temporarily stuck on an elevator at work. Nonetheless, Plaintiff opposed Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that she suffered recoverable damages in the form of emotional distress because of the incident. The Circuit Court correctly applied well settled law when it granted summary judgment to Respondents. At the summary judgment stage, and now on appeal, Plaintiff has identified no evidence that her emotional distress amounted to recoverable damages under a negligence claim. This Court must affirm the Circuit Court's Order granting summary judgment.

I. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that Plaintiff did not suffer physical injuries and therefore could not establish recoverable damages under a negligence claim.

To sustain an action rooted in negligence, a plaintiff must establish (1) a duty of care owed that was (2) breached by a negligent act or omission and (3) damages proximately related to the breach. *Shaw v. City of Charleston*, 351 S.C. 32, 40, 567 S.E.2d 530, 534 (Ct. App. 2002) (*citing Hubbard v. Taylor*, 339 S.C. 582, 588, 529 S.E.2d 549, 552 (Ct. App. 2000)). Furthermore, damages must stem from either physical injury or property damage. *Babb v. Lee County Landfill SC, LLC*, 405 S.C. 129, 153, 747 S.E.2d 468, 481 (2013). "Damages for emotional or mental

suffering are typically not recoverable, unless there is some physical manifestation of the emotional distress.” *Id.*

South Carolina has long recognized that a plaintiff may recover damages for emotional distress in negligence cases only where the plaintiff suffers a physical harm proximately caused by that same emotional distress. *See Padgett v. Colonial Wholesale Distrib. Co.*, 232 S.C. 593, 608, 103 S.E.2d 265, 272 (1958); *see also Norris v. Southern Ry. Carolina Division*, 84 S.C. 15, 65 S.E. 956 (1909) (“The law in this state does not allow recovery of damages for mental suffering in the absence of bodily injury, [without statutory authority.]”); *Taylor v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.*, 78 S.C. 552, 59 S.E. 641 (1907) (“The complaint alleges merely that the conduct of defendant caused ‘great mental and nervous shock and anxiety’ to plaintiff. There is no allegation of physical or bodily injury. The law in this state does not allow recovery of damages for mental suffering in the absence of bodily injury, [without statutory authority.]”); *Lewis v. Western Union Tel. Co.*, 57 S.C. 325, 35 S.E. 556 (1900) (“The common law never recognized such damages [for mental suffering disconnected with, or in the absence of, any bodily injury]...[o]ur own state may be classed among those who adhere to the old common-law rule”). A plaintiff ordinarily cannot recover damages for mental suffering in the absence of bodily injury; however, “injuries to the nervous system could be regarded as ‘an injury to the body rather than to the mind, even though the mind be at the same time injuriously affected.’” *Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C.*, 374 S.C. 352, 355, 650 S.E.2d 68, 70 n.1 (2007).

In *Padgett*, a truck crashed into the plaintiff’s residence while the plaintiff was inside. 232 S.C. 593, 597, 103 S.E.2d 265, 266–267. It was cold on the night of the accident, and the plaintiff spent several hours in the yard speaking with investigating officers and cleaning debris. *Id.* at 267, 103 S.E.2d at 597. There was also a hole in his house from the accident. *Id.* The plaintiff testified

that he almost froze from being exposed to the elements. *Id.* The plaintiff developed a rash from being exposed to the elements. *Id.* at 597–598, 103 S.E.2d at 267. At trial, the defendant moved for directed verdict on the basis that the plaintiff failed to prove recoverable damages. *Id.* at 597, 103 S.E.2d at 266. The trial court denied the motion. *Id.* On appeal, the Court of Appeals held that a plaintiff can recover for emotional damages when there is no physical impact if the plaintiff suffers physical injuries from the negligence of the defendant. *Id.* at 608, 103 S.E.2d at 272. In holding that the trial court did not err in submitting the issue of negligence to the jury, the Court noted that the plaintiff developed a skin ailment as a result of the incident and therefore had *some* evidence of a physical injury. *Id.* at 604, 103 S.E.2d at 270.

This issue was also addressed in *Dooley v. Richland Memorial Hospital*. Unlike the cases cited by Crump, *Dooley* is a holding from the last 50 years. In *Dooley*, a driver was injured in a single-car accident and was in serious condition. 283 S.C. 372, 373, 322 S.E.2d 669, 670 (1984). The driver did not have any identification on his person, but responding law enforcement officers found an ID for Doug Dooley. *Id.* The plaintiffs, Doug Dooley’s parents, were called to the hospital and informed of the serious nature of their son’s injuries. *Id.* at 373–374, 322 S.E.2d at 670. It was later determined that the driver was not Doug Dooley, and the plaintiffs filed suit against the defendant hospital. *Id.* The plaintiffs testified that the misidentification of the injured driver caused them to become upset and nervous, and required them to be medicated with Valium. *Id.* at 375, 322 S.E.2d at 671. The Court determined that the plaintiffs did not have an “evidence of physical injury upon which to rest a claim for damages for emotional injury.” *Id.*

Courts in other jurisdictions have similar holdings to *Dooley*. Virginia courts have held that “typical symptoms of an emotional disturbance” do not constitute “physical injury” for purposes of a negligent infliction of emotional distress claim. *Dao v. Faustin*, 402 F. Supp. 3d 308

(E.D. Va. 2019) (*citing Myseros v. Sissler*, 239 Va. 8, 12, 387 S.E.2d 463 (1990)). Like Virginia courts, courts in Kansas, North Dakota, and Utah have held that typical symptoms of emotional disturbance, like headaches, insomnia, weight loss, and anxiety, do not constitute a physical injury. *See Anderson v. Scheffler*, 242 Kan. 857, 752 P.2d 667, 669 (1988) (“There may be no recovery in Kansas for emotional distress unless that distress results in ‘physical impact’: an actual physical injury to the plaintiff. Generalized physical symptoms of emotional distress such as headaches and insomnia are insufficient to state a cause of action.”); *Muchow v. Lindblad*, 435 N.W.2d 918, 921–22 (N.D.1989) (affirming the district court’s determination that the plaintiffs failed to raise a reasonable inference that they suffered the “bodily harm” necessary for recovery under negligent infliction of emotional distress because the loss of sleep and weight is transitory and inconsequential and therefore, not “bodily harm.”); *Hansen v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co.*, 858 P.2d 970, 982–83 (Utah 1993). (“[T]he emotional distress suffered must be severe; it must be such that ‘a reasonable [person,] normally constituted, would be unable to adequately cope with the mental stress engendered by the circumstances of the case.’... Therefore, transitory anxiety and sleeplessness...do not constitute illness or injury [].”). Rather than distinguishing what is not a physical injury, Florida courts have held “that such psychological trauma must cause a demonstrable physical injury such as death, paralysis, muscular impairment, or similar objectively discernible physical impairment before a cause of action may exist.” *Brown v. Cadillac Motor Car Div.*, 468 So.2d 903, 904 (Fla. 1985).

Here, Plaintiff does not have a physical injury to pursue a negligence cause of action. Plaintiff testified that she was not injured as a result of the accident. Further, her treating physician testified that she was not injured. Unlike the plaintiff in *Padgett* who had a skin ailment as a result of the accident, Plaintiff has not shown any physical injury as a result of the accident. Rather,

Plaintiff's panic attacks are analogous to the upset and nervousness experienced by the plaintiffs in *Dooley*, which do not amount to a physical injury on which to rest a claim for damages under a negligence claim.

Crump argues on appeal that "our Supreme Court has repeatedly affirmed the principle that physical manifestations of emotional distress satisfy the damages element in negligence causes of action." (App. Br. 11). It's important to note that the cases cited by Crump to support this proposition do not use the word "manifestation" at all. *See generally, Mack v. South-Bound R. Co.*, 52 S.C. 323, 29 S.E. 905 (1898); *Spaugh v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.*, 158 S.C. 25, 155 S.E. 145 (1930). Rather, in *Mack* and *Spaugh*, our Supreme Court uses the terms "physical injury" or "bodily injury." *Mack*, at 323, 29 S.E.2d at 908-909. Simply put, South Carolina law requires a plaintiff to prove that her mental anguish or emotion distress caused a physical or bodily injury to recover under a negligence theory. Plaintiff's panic attacks do not rise to the level of physical injury. There is no evidence that Plaintiff had a physical skin rash like the plaintiff in *Padgett*, and Plaintiff's panic attacks are more similar to the upset and nervous behaviors of the plaintiffs in *Dooley*, which did not rise to the level of a physical injury. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that Plaintiff failed to prove such injury in this case, and the Order granting summary judgment must be affirmed.

II. Plaintiff cannot rely on the Affidavit of Ms. Ganzy to establish actionable damages in a cause of action for negligence.

Plaintiff submitted an affidavit in opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment prepared by licensed counselor Shenna Ganzy. (R. 149-51.) However, the affidavit does not provide evidence of actionable damages because, as explained above, panic attacks and heightened nervousness are not actionable damages under a negligence theory and, even if this

Court found the affidavit contained evidence of actionable damages, the affidavit fails to establish that the elevator incident was the proximate cause of her panic attacks.

First, Ms. Ganzy's affidavit does not provide evidence of actionable damages under a negligence theory. Ms. Ganzy stated that, since the elevator incident, Crump "experienced sudden and intense panic attacks characterized by symptoms such as shortness of breath, chest pain, dizziness, and an overwhelming fear of dying or losing control." (R. 150.) Even when crediting Ms. Ganzy's statements as true from the perspective of a counselor, the symptoms described do not rise to the level of actionable damages for emotional distress. Unlike the plaintiff in *Padgett*, Crump did not develop a "bodily injury" as a result of her "sudden and intense panic attacks." Crump's symptomology is closer to the anxiety symptoms developed by the plaintiffs in *Dooley*, where our Supreme Court held that anxiety attacks requiring medication did not amount to actionable damages.

The authorities cited in Plaintiff's initial brief illustrate that more is required to prove actionable damages when a plaintiff does not allege physical contact caused the "injury." For example, our Supreme Court noted the plaintiff in *Mack* "was incapacitated from performing or attending to his ordinary duties" because of his fright and shock. *Mack*, 52 S.C. at 326, 29 S.E. at 906. Ms. Ganzy's affidavit does not contain any medical opinion that Crump's panic attacks incapacitated her or prevented her from participating in daily activities. In *Turner v. A B C Jalousie Co.*, another case cited by Plaintiff, our Supreme Court noted that the plaintiff's "nervous system collapsed, necessitating hospital and medical care and treatment." 251 S.C. 92, 95, 160 S.E.2d 528, 529 (1968). There is no evidence, either in Ms. Ganzy's affidavit or otherwise, that Crump would require hospital care or medical treatment because of her panic disorder. In fact, Plaintiff's primary care physician testified Plaintiff was not injured in the elevator incident. The Circuit Court

correctly concluded that counselor Ganzy's affidavit did not provide evidence of actionable damages, and the Order granting summary judgment must be affirmed.

Second, Ms. Ganzy's affidavit does not provide any evidence of a causal connection between the panic attacks and the alleged tortious acts of Defendants. Plaintiff has improperly relied on the testimony of Ms. Ganzy, which fails to establish to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Plaintiff's injuries were proximately caused by the accident. Thus, Plaintiff has not met the burden of proof as to causation.

"In a negligence action, the plaintiff must prove proximate cause." *Rush v. Blanchard*, 310 S.C. 375, 379 426 S.E.2d 802, 804 (1993). "When the opinions of medical experts are relied upon to establish causal connection of negligence to injury, the proper test to be applied is that the expert must, with reasonable certainty, state that in his professional opinion the injuries complained of most probably resulted from the alleged negligence of the defendant." *Armstrong v. Weiland*, 267 S.C. 12, 16, 225 S.E.2d 851, 853 (1976) (citing *Gambrell v. Burleson*, 252 S.C. 98, 165 S.E.2d 622 (1969); *Cross v. Concrete Materials*, 236 S.C. 440, 114 S.E.2d 828 (1960)). South Carolina courts have generally held that, before expert testimony is admissible upon the question of the causal connection between the plaintiff's injuries and the acts of the defendant, the testimony must satisfy the "most probably" rule. *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 111, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991) (citing *Armstrong v. Weiland*, 267 S.C. 12, 225 S.E.2d 851 (1976); *Martin v. Mobley*, 253 S.C. 103, 169 S.E.2d 278 (1969); *Gambrell v. Burleson*, 252 S.C. 98, 165 S.E.2d 622 (1969)). The "most probably" rule states:

it is not sufficient for the expert ... to testify merely that the ailment might or could have resulted from the alleged cause. He must go further and testify that taking into consideration all the data it is his professional opinion that the result in question most probably came from the cause alleged.

Eubanks v. Piedmont Nat. Gas Co., 198 F.Supp. 522, 526-27. (W.D.S.C. 1961).

Ms. Ganzy's Affidavit does not establish a causal link between Plaintiff's panic attacks and the alleged incident. By stating that the panic attacks "began following" the elevator incident, Ms. Ganzy is effectively creating a timeline rather than providing a causal link linking the panic attacks to the elevator incident. (R. 150.) Ms. Ganzy does not state, for example, that Plaintiff's panic disorder arose "because of" the incident in the elevator. Instead, Ms. Ganzy simply relies on the panic disorder manifesting itself after the elevator incident without providing any opinion as to causation. *Id.* Furthermore, Ms. Ganzy statement that Plaintiff "was stuck in an elevator for an extended period, which served as the initial traumatic trigger for her panic disorder," does not meet the standard required by the "most probably" rule because Ms. Ganzy does not testify to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. *Id.* Therefore, Plaintiff's reliance on the affidavit of Ms. Ganzy to establish causal connection of negligence to injury does not meet Plaintiff's burden of proof in establishing her injuries were proximately caused by the negligence of Defendants.

III. From a public policy perspective, allowing Plaintiffs to file lawsuits for incidents that cause panic attacks would overburden the South Carolina Court System.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has long recognized that emotional distress claims involve an inherent risk of fraud. In *Mack v. South-Bound R. Co.*, the court stated:

We cannot say, therefore, that such consequences may not flow proximately from unintentional negligence; and, if compensation in damages may be recovered for a physical injury so caused, it is hard, on principle, to say why there should not also be a recovery for the mere mental suffering, when not accompanied by any perceptible physical effects. It would seem, therefore, that the real reason for refusing damages sustained from mere fright must be something different, and it probably rests on the ground that in practice it is impossible satisfactorily to administer any other rule. The logical vindication of this rule is that it is unreasonable to hold persons who are merely negligent bound to anticipate and guard against fright, and the consequences of fright, and that *this would open a wide door for unjust claims, which could not successfully be met.*

52 S.C. 323, 323, 29 S.E. 905, 909 (1898) (emphasis added). In *Lewis v. Western Union Tel. Co.*, the court noted that South Carolina courts have traditionally found damages for emotional distress to be “too vague, shadowy, and uncertain.” 57 S.C. 325, 325, 35 S.E. 556, 558 (1900).

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